
                                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

Note: Detailed Information for Agenda Items can be found at the City of Clarkston Website www.clarkstonga.gov/ 

   
  
  
  

 

AGENDA  Tuesday, January 7, 2020  7:00PM 
A. CALL TO ORDER  

 
B. ROLL CALL/ PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    

 
C. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS/ PRESENTATION 

C1) Approve Minutes: Council Meeting 12-3-19  
C2) Swear -In elected Council Members 
C3) Council Elect Vice-Mayor 
 

D. CONSENT AGENDA 
D1) Confirm Attorney 
D2) Confirm Auditor 
D3) Confirm Judge 
D4) Confirm Solicitor  
D5) Confirm Ethics Hearing Officer 
 

E. REPORTS:   
1)  Planning & Zoning Report 
2)  City Manager’s Report 
3)  City Attorney’s Report  
4)  Council Remarks 
5)  Mayor’s Report 
 

F. PUBLIC COMMENTS  
Any member of the public may address the Council, during the time allotted for public comment. Each attendee will be 
allowed 3 minutes for comments at the discretion of the Presiding Officer. The public comment period will be limited to 
40 minutes and it is not a time for dialogue. If your public comment contains a series of questions, please submit those to 
the City Clerk in writing. This will facilitate follow-up by the council or staff. The City Council desires to allow an 
opportunity for public comment; however, the business of the City must proceed in an orderly, timely manner. 
 

G. OLD BUSINESS 
None 

H. NEW BUSINESS 
H1) PUBLIC HEARING: Conditional use permit for property located at 3729 Church Street 
 
H2) PUBLIC HEARING: Conditional use permit for property located at Parc 1000 Apartments; 1000 Montreal 
Road, Apartment 37A 
 
H3) PUBLIC HEARING: To amend the Clarkston Zoning Ordinance to allow apartments units to be used by 
non-profit corporations for childcare and/or tutoring as a primary use in the NR-3, NR-CD,RC,NC-1, NC-2 and 
TC Districts. 
 
H4) Approve Annexation Resolution 
 
H5) Approve Waste Management/ Recycling agreement 
 

G.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 
       Executive Session to discuss a legal Matter 
 
H.  ADJOURNMENT:  

YT Bell   Laura Hopkins                                       
Jamie Carroll       Ahmed Hassan 
Awet Eyasu                    Debra Johnson 
 

Robin I. Gomez– City Manager 

Ted Terry – Mayor 



 

MINUTES 
CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 

Tuesday, December 3, 2019 
Officials Present 

Mayor:  Ted Terry 
Council:  YT Bell, Jamie Carroll, Andrea Cervone, Awet Eyasu,  
Ahmed Hassan, Mario Williams 
City Manager: Robin I. Gomez  
City Clerk:  Tracy Ashby  
City Attorney: Stephen Quinn 

 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER  
Mayor Terry called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. 

 
B. ROLL CALL/ PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

Present:  YT Bell, Jamie Carroll, Andrea Cervone, Awet Eyasu, Ahmed Hassan, Mario Williams 
  

C. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS/ PRESENTATION 
C1) Approve Minutes: Council Meeting 11-7-2019 and Special Call 11-26-19 
Jamie Carroll made a motion to approve the Council Meeting 11-7-2019 and Special Call 11-26-19 minutes.  
Awet Eyasu seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried. (6, 0).  
 
C2) Recognize Outgoing Council Members 
Outgoing Councilwoman Andrea Cervone and Councilman Mario Williams were recognized for their years of 
service and presented a plaque.  Both Council Members thanked the Council, Residents and Staff for their 
support during their service. Mayor Terry thanked both Council Members for their contributions to significant 
policy changes during their time in office.  
 

D. REPORTS:   
1)  Planning & Zoning Report 
Shawanna Qawiy provided an end of year report for Planning and Development. The final Planning & Zoning 
meeting for 2019 will be held on December 21. He reminded that there will not be a Work Session in December 
and the January 7 Council meeting will be held at the Clarkston Community Center. He thanked Council 
Members Williams and Cervone for their support during his first year as Clarkston’s City Manager. 
 
2)  City Manager’s Report 
Mr. Gomez discussed the upcoming events around the City.  He provided the November 30, 2019 Financial 
Report. He provided details on upcoming city and community events.  
 
3)  City Attorney’s Report  
No Report 
 
4)  Council Remarks 
Andrea Cervone reported on their follow-up meeting with the Food Well Alliance.  
 
Jamie Carroll thanked Council Members Williams and Cervone for their service to the City. 
 
Ahmed Hassan thanked Council Members Williams and Cervone for their contributions to the City.  
 
Awet Eyasu also thanked Council Members Williams and Cervone.  He thanked the residents for their support 
in the City Election and he looked forward to working with the new council members.  
 
Mario Williams appreciated his ability to serve the City. 
 



 

YT Bell thanked Council Members Williams and Cervone and she expected to continue working with them 
outside of the Council.  She reported on the Annual Literacy Day at Indian Creek elementary.  
 
5)  Mayor’s Report 
Mayor Terry discussed the “Giving Tuesday” and encouraged everyone to donate to local nonprofits.  
 

E. PUBLIC COMMENTS  
Any member of the public may address the Council, during the time allotted for public comment. Each attendee 
will be allowed 3 minutes for comments at the discretion of the Presiding Officer. The public comment period 
will be limited to 40 minutes and it is not a time for dialogue. If your public comment contains a series of 
questions, please submit those to the City Clerk in writing. This will facilitate follow-up by the council or staff. 
The City Council desires to allow an opportunity for public comment; however, the business of the City must 
proceed in an orderly, timely manner. 
 
Chris Busing Discussed meeting decorum under public comments. 
 
Warren Hadlock discussed his concerns on the DDA agenda item. 
 
Dean Moore encouraged the Council to not rush when filling the DDA member positions.  
 
DeKalb resident discussed the language interpretation services at the municipal courts. 
 
Amina Osman questioned providing food donations from her residence. 
 
Tracy Bishop discussed concerns with the City. 
 
Ms. Tiny (Parc 1000) discussed the need for afterschool programs. 
 
Laura Hopkins discussed her concerns with appointing members to the DDA.  
 
Mayor Terry closed the public comments.   
 

F. CONSENT AGENDA 
F1)  Approve GDOT Local Maintenance Improvement Grant 2020 Application in the amount of $103,740.53, 
and 2018 & 2019 Grant Awards totaling $172,753.20, ‘roll-over’ to 2020 
 
F2) Adopt Resolution to Declare Property Surplus for City of Clarkston 
 
Awet Eyasu made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda items:  F1) Approve GDOT Local Maintenance 
Improvement Grant 2020 Application in the amount of $103,740.53, and 2018 & 2019 Grant Awards totaling 
$172,753.20, ‘roll-over’ to 2020 and F2) Adopt Resolution to Declare Property Surplus for City of Clarkston. 
.Andrea Cervone seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (6, 0).  
 

G. OLD BUSINESS 
None  
 

H. NEW BUSINESS 
H1)  Public Hearing 2020 Budget 
Discussion on submitted art projects and Mr. Gomez clarified there was not a proposal submitted but ideas.  
Going forward a project would need to detail the specific type, location, cost to be considered for council 
approval. 
 
1) 2020 Budget Presentation – Robin Gomez  
Mr. Gomez provided the 2020 Budget presentation and addressed any questions. Discussion on pending changes 
to the recycling services under Waste Management.  



 

Discussion on amending the community action project budget to add a homelessness initiative in the 2020 
budget. 
 
2) Public Hearing – To take public comment on the 2020 Proposed Operating & Enterprise Fund Budget 
Mayor Terry opened the public hearing. 
 
Chris Busing spoke on having the public works manage the sanitation/recycling services. He requested the 
budgets include a table of contents.  
 
Amy Medford requested having glass recycling bins in the city and she questioned if commercial annexation 
would reduce residential taxes.  Jamie Carroll clarified that some commercial annexation could potentially 
increase cost of services delivered and so did not necessarily mean a reduction for residential taxes.  
 
Dean Moore commented on the homeless Intiative and the work session mixers. .  
 
No further public comments. Mayor Terry closed the public hearing. 
 
3) Council Adopt 2020 Operating & Enterprise Budget Ordinance 
Jamie Carroll made a motion to adopt the 2020 Budget with the change to advisory task groups that 
instead of $10k to each group that a total of $50k go to the combined groups and an additional $10k for 
homelessness.  Andrea Cervone seconded the motion. A vote was called and the motion carried (6, 0).  
 

H2) Discuss a request by Title Max (TMX Finance) to amend Chapter 11, Article VII, Pawnbrokers, Clarkston 
City Code of Ordinances to Provide for Grandfathering of Previously Existing Pawnbrokers/Pawnshops with 
Regard to Location Restrictions   
Mayor Terry stated this was a discussion to extend the amendment to the grandfather.  Jamie Carroll stated he 
had hesitation as he had just received a legal memo tonight and he had not had an opportunity to review the 
memo, so he was hesitant to take any action until he could review.  He hoped he would have received earlier. 
Mayor Terry stated as there was no action they would move on. Awet Eyasu questioned if the item was being 
tabled for a future meeting. Stephen Quinn clarified it would require a motion if the Council is tabling the item 
with the purpose to place on a future agenda but if the council doesn’t want to take any action then it dies, unless 
separately it gets brought up through our usual process. Discussion on no work session in December and the two 
new council members being sworn in at the January meeting and as a professional courtesy they choose they can 
ask to add.  
 
H3) Adopt Ordinance to Amend Chapter 3 Clarkston Code of Ordinances Regarding Alcohol, to Clarity That 
“Bona Fide Restaurants” Must Serve at Least Two (2) Meals Per Day.   
Awet Eyasu discussed concerns if this is confusing to our restaurants.  YT Bell stated the purpose was to provide 
consistency for a timeframe for restaurants to serve their meals to verify they are operating as a bona-fide 
restaurant. Jamie Carroll stated it provided a standard for code (or police) to verify hours of service for bona-fide 
restaurants and eliminates any confusion as to when meals are to be served. 
 
YT Bell made  a motion to adopt the Ordinance to Amend Chapter 3 Clarkston Code of Ordinances Regarding 
Alcohol, to Clarity That “Bona Fide Restaurants” Must Serve at Least Two (2) Meals Per Day. Andrea Cervone 
seconded the motion.  Discussion on businesses that fall under this category and previous issues with non -
compliance. YT Bell stated this was not a new item as it had been on committee meetings in March with public 
discussion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (3- Yes: Andrea Cervone, YT Bell, Jamie Carroll, 2- No: 
Awet Eyasu, Ahmed Hassan, 1-Abstain: Mario Williams).  
 
H4)  Downtown Development Authority Appointment 
Mayor Terry provided an overview of the purpose of the DDA and the appointment process.  
Mayor Terry invited any applicants present to address the Council.  
 
Doug Guess provided information on his background, experience and interest to serve.  
 
Emanuel Ransom stated he wanted to serve to see progress in the city and during his time as Mayor he had often 
felt the lack of having a DDA negatively impacted the city’s growth.  



 

 
Awet Eyasu expressed a desire to wait until the new council members were sworn in to make appointments to the 
DDA. Jamie Carroll requested a compromise by making two council member appointments and two non-council 
member appointments today, to allow the DDA to have a quorum and to begin working, while leaving one 
council appointment and two non-council appointments for the new council to make. Extended discussion on the 
appointment process and possible compromises.  
 
Jamie Carroll made a motion to appoint Council Members Awet Eyasu and YT Bell and non-council members 
Doug Guess to a two year term to the Clarkston Downtown Development Authority. Andrea Cervone seconded.  
Awet Eyasu thanked the Council for the nomination, but he stated his preference to wait on making the 
appointment.  Council Discussion on the appointment motion and training process.  The City Attorney stated it 
would be more appropriate for the nomination to be made as separate motions and for the starting date and terms 
to be included in the motion.   
Jamie Carroll made a motion to nominate Doug Guess, for a two year term to begin 1 /1/2020.  Ahmed Hassan 
seconded the motion. The vote was called and the motion carried (5-Yes: YT Bell, Mario Williams, Ahmed 
Hassan, Jamie Carroll, and Andrea Cervone, No- 0, Abstain-1: Awet Eyasu). 
 
YT Bell made a motion to appoint Emanuel Ransom to the DDA starting 1/1/2020 for a two year term. 
Clarification that the next position would be for a four (34) year term.  YT Bell amended her motion and moved 
to appoint Emanuel Ransom to the DDA starting 1/1/2020 for a four year term. Ahmed Hassan seconded the 
motion. Discussion on Mr. Ransoms appointment and that while he had previously taken the DDA training, he is 
willing to retake the training. The vote was called and the motion carried (5- Yes: YT Bell, Mario Williams, 
Ahmed Hassan, Jamie Carroll, and Andrea Cervone, No- 0, Abstain-1: Awet Eyasu). 
 
Jamie Carroll made a motion to appoint YT Bell to the Clarkston Downtown Development Authority.  Andrea 
Cervone seconded the motion.  Discussion on YT Bell qualifications and inquiry on if a seat becomes vacant the 
council would appoint a new member.  (5- Yes: YT Bell, Mario Williams, Ahmed Hassan, Jamie Carroll, and 
Andrea Cervone, No- 0, Abstain-1: Awet Eyasu). 
 
Ahmed Hassan made a motion to appoint Awet Eyasu as a member of the DDA.  Andrea Cervone seconded the 
motion.  Discussion that both YT Bell and Awet Eyasu have previously taken the DDA training.  The vote was 
called and the motion carried (5- Yes: YT Bell, Mario Williams, Ahmed Hassan, Jamie Carroll, and Andrea 
Cervone, No- 0, Abstain-1: Awet Eyasu). 
 
The Mayor requested that the new members who have not recently completed the training are requested to 
coordinate with the City to attend the training. 
 
Discussion on the criteria to fill the remaining seats. 
 
H5)  Amend Youth Advisory Council Resolution to Appoint an Advisory Person 
YT Bell stated this was amending the Youth Advisory Committee to add an Advisory Person, an adult. 
 
YT Bell made a motion to Amend Youth Advisory Council Resolution to Appoint an Advisory Person.  Andrea 
Cervone seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (6, 0).  
 
H6)  Historic Preservation Commission Appointments 
The Mayor reported that only two current applications have been submitted; a third resident had withdrawn their 
application.  Now that Emanuel Ransom has been appointed to the DDA, and the other applicant has withdrawn 
their application; that leaves Dean Moore who has agreed to serve. 
 
Mario Williams made a motion to appoint former council member Dean Moore to the Historic Preservation 
Commission.  Awet Eyasu seconded the motion.  Discussion that Dean Moore has completed a training and per 
the City Attorney, State law does not specify training is a requirement before meetings can be held. Debra 
Johnson issued her resignation from the HPC so that the appointed members can begin the process of establishing 
bylaws and the historic district.  Shawanna Qawiy discussed setting up the first meeting process.  A vote was 
called and the motion carried (6, 0).  



 

 
H7)  Resolution to Commit the City of Clarkston to protect its Natural Environment through Regulation of 
Environmentally Acceptable Packaging and Products 
Mayor Terry stated the important part of this resolution is that the City council wishes to phase out non 
compostable, non-recyclable products, single use plastic products, no later than one year after the adoption of 
actual ordinance. The Council, City Attorney and Committees intend to have the ordinance drafted by May 5, 
2020.   Awet Eyasu stated the Environmental Committee has begun this work and will also plan to work with 
the affected businesses.    
 
Andrea Cervone made a motion to approve the resolution to commit the City of Clarkston to protect its Natural 
Environment through Regulation of Environmentally Acceptable Packaging and Products.  YT Bell seconded 
the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (6, 0). 

 
I.     ADJOURNMENT:  

Awet Eyasu made a motion to adjourn the Council Meeting. YT Bell seconded the motion.  A vote was called 
and the motion carried (6, 0).  
 
Meeting adjourned. 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 7, 2019 
 
SUBJECT:  Appoint City Attorney  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   
To Appoint the City Attorney for the period of Jan 1, 2020 to Dec 31, 2020.   
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
Pursuant to Section 3.03 of the Clarkston City Charter, the Mayor and Council shall appoint a city attorney, together 
with such assistant city attorneys as may be authorized by ordinance. The city attorney shall be responsible for 
representing and defending the city in all litigation in which the city is a part; may be the prosecuting officer in the 
municipal court; shall attend the meetings of the council as directed; shall advise the council, mayor, and other 
officers and employees of the city concerning legal aspects of the city's affairs; and shall approve as to form and 
legality all contracts, deeds, ordinances and resolutions having the force of law.  
 
Mr. Stephen Quinn has served the City of Clarkston extremely well in this capacity since 2008 and would like to 
continue serving in 2020.   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends the City Council vote to reappoint Mr. Stephen Quinn as Clarkston City Attorney.   

ITEM NO: D1 

ACTION TYPE: 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages: 1 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   ROBIN I. GOMEZ 
City Manager 404 296-6489 





Page 1 of 1 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 7, 2020 
 

 
SUBJECT:  Approve Engagement Letter and appointment of Mauldin & Jenkins as City Auditor for FY2019 
Audit   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PURPOSE:  To approve Engagement Letter contract and appointment of Mauldin & Jenkins as City 
Auditor to complete the FY2019 financial statement audit. 

 NEED/ IMPACT:  In accordance with the Charter, Sec. 4.05, Annual Audit, the mayor and council may 
employ a public accountant or a certified public accountant to make an annual audit of all financial 
books and records of the city. The accountant shall file his report with the mayor, at a time agreed to 
between him and the mayor, and shall prepare a summary of the report which shall be furnished or 
made available to the mayor and every councilman.   Mauldin & Jenkins has provided financial audit 
services to the City for several years.  The audit for the year ended December 31, 2019 will require 
additional effort due to the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) which relate to the significant amount of federal 
grant funds received during FY2019 in relation to the Streetscape construction project.   

RECOMMENDATIONS:  Staff recommends the City Council vote to approve the attached Engagement 
Letter (contract) for audit services for the year ended December 31, 2019 to occur in FY2020 in the 
amount of $34,500.   
 
 

ITEM NO: D2 

ACTION TYPE: 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES    NO 
Pages: 9 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin Gomez 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489 ext. 411 





















CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 7, 2020 
 
 
SUBJECT:  Approve Contract for Municipal Court Judge Services with David C. Will  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   
To Approve a Contract for Municipal Court Judge Services with David C. Will 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
In accordance with the Charter, Sec. 3.04, the City of Clarkston Municipal Court shall be presided over by a qualified 
judge appointed by the City Council on an annual basis.  
 
Judge David Will has served extremely well in this capacity for three (3) calendar years and would like to continue in 
2020. The initial term of the agreement was for one (1) year and is renewable annually.  
 
The attached Agreement outlines the services to be provided by Mr. David C. Will and sets the level of compensation 
which will be $2,000 per month.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the City Council vote to approve the attached Contract for Municipal Court 
Judge Services between David C. Will and the City of Clarkston.   

ITEM NO: D3 

ACTION TYPE: 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages: 3 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   ROBIN I GOMEZ 
City Manager 404 296-6489 











CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 7, 2020 
 
SUBJECT:  Approve Contract for Municipal Court Solicitor Services with Christopher Diwan  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   
To Approve a Contract for Municipal Court Solicitor Services with Christopher Diwan 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
The Public Safety Committee recommended that Christopher Diwan be appointed as the Municipal Court Solicitor 
effective January 1, 2019.  
 
Mr. Diwan has served as the City of Clarkston Solicitor exceptionally well for three calendar years. The initial term of 
the agreement was for one (1) year and is renewable annually.  
 
The attached Agreement outlines the services to be provided by Christopher Diwan and sets the level of 
compensation which will be $1,000 per month.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
The City Manager recommends the City Council vote to approve the attached Contract for Municipal Court Solicitor 
services between Christopher Diwan and the City of Clarkston.   

ITEM NO: D4 

ACTION TYPE: 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: City Council 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages: 3 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   ROBIN I GOMEZ 
Contact:  404-296-6489   



Page 1 of 3 
 

CONTRACT TO PROVIDE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY 
SERVICES TO CLARKSTON MUNICIPAL COURT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into effective this 1st day of January, 2020, by and between the 
CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA, a municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as “CITY” and 
CHRISTOPHER DIWAN, Attorney at Law. 
 

W I T N E S E T H: 
 
WHEREAS, the CITY desires the services of CHRISTOPHER DIWAN as City Solicitor, pursuant to 
Section 3.04 of the Charter of the CITY OF CLARKSTON; and 
 
WHEREAS, CHRISTOPHER DIWAN is qualified to serve as prosecuting attorney of a municipal court 
pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 15-18-92(a) and desires to serve in said capacity as an independent contractor, 
rather than as an employee of the CITY OF CLARKSTON; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the desire of both parties hereto to establish and set forth their mutual responsibilities 
one to the other. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, it is hereby agreed as 
follows: 
 

1. Duties. The CITY hereby contracts with CHRISTOPHER DIWAN to perform all functions 
and duties of the prosecuting attorney of t4h Clarkston Municipal Court (i.e., serve as City 
Solicitor) and to perform such other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as said 
position shall require. These duties shall include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
a. Prosecute cases within the jurisdiction of the City Charter, Ordinances, and 

Georgia State Statutes that are within the original jurisdiction of the Clarkston 
Municipal Court; 

 
b. Perform advanced professional legal work involving the prosecution of 

defendants in misdemeanor criminal cases; 
 
c. Participate in administrative and research functions in civil areas when so 

directed by the City Manager; 
 

d. Report to the City Manager as requested regarding the functions of the 
Municipal Court system; 

 
e. Collaborate with the Municipal Court Judge to develop and carry out policies 

for trial procedures; 
 
f. Coordinate with the Municipal Court Judge, Public Defender and Court Clerk to 

reduce or eliminate backlog of pending cases; 
 

g. Annually review data gathered by the CITY regarding cases generated by the 
Clarkston Police Department and filed in the Municipal Court; 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
h. Prepare an annual report concerning Municipal Court operations and results and 

personally present that report to the City Council; 
 

i. Annually review and recommend changes to the Clarkston Municipal Code 
which relate to Municipal Court; and 

 
j. Make recommendations to the CITY to improve the financial or other operating 

conditions of the Court. 
 

2. Independent Contractor. In performing the duties of City Solicitor, CHRISTOPHER DIWAN 
shall serve as an independent contractor and not as an employee of the CITY. The CITY shall 
have no right or responsibility to control or influence the manner in which he carries out his 
prosecutorial responsibilities, save and except that CHRISTOPHER DIWAN agrees to carry 
out his duties in a timely, consistent, fair and effective manner.  
 

3. Term. This Agreement shall commence on the date set forth on page one and shall continue 
until December 31, 2020.  This contract may be renewed annually upon the terms set forth 
herein or upon any other terms mutually acceptable to both parties. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, CHRISTOPHER DIWAN shall serve at the pleasure of the City Council. No rights, 
responsibilities, salary, or other benefits shall extend beyond the term of this Agreement and 
nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to vest in CHRISTOPHER DIWAN any property 
interest in the duties, responsibilities, or compensation provided in this contract or any right 
to the continuation thereof.  

 
4. Compensation. Effective January 1, 2020, the compensation shall be $1,000 monthly. 

Payment shall be made on or before the last working day of each month this Agreement 
remains in effect.   

 
5.  Hours of Work. It is recognized that the hours devoted by the Solicitor in the performance of 

his responsibilities may vary with the caseload of the Court. The Solicitor shall report to the 
City Manager upon request the amount of time he is devoting to his duties as Solicitor. 

 
6. Periodic Review. The City Council may review the performance and compensation of the 

City Solicitor by such method and at such times as the Council shall deem appropriate. 
 
7. Dues and Subscriptions. The City Solicitor shall maintain membership in an appropriate 

statewide organization for City Solicitors and all fees required for such membership shall be 
paid by the CITY. In addition, the CITY encourages the City Solicitor to participate in 
national, regional, and state and local associations and organizations necessary and desired 
for her continued professional growth and advancement and to improve her performance as 
City Solicitor. Should the City Solicitor desire to incur any expenditure for any of the 
proposed activities outlined above, she may obtain prior consent from the City Manager of 
the CITY OF CLARKSTON, in which event the CITY shall be obligated to reimburse for 
such pre-authorized expenses. 

 
8. Professional Development. The CITY agrees to reimburse the City Solicitor for registration, 

travel, and subsistence expenses for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 
deemed necessary or desirable to continue the professional development of the City Solicitor. 
The procedures for reimbursement referred to in paragraph 7 above shall apply to expenses 
incurred pursuant to this paragraph as well. 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
9. General Provisions. This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties 

and supersedes any previous agreements or understandings. If any provisions or a portion 
thereof contained in this Agreement is held to be unconstitutional, invalid, or unenforceable, 
the remainder of this agreement, or portion thereof, shall be deemed severable, shall not be 
affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. No other benefits, consideration, or 
compensation of any kind shall be due from CITY to CHRISTOPHER DIWAN other than as 
set forth herein. 

 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON: 
 
 
                                                         
Ted Terry, Mayor  CHRISTOPHER DIWAN, City Solicitor 
 

Date:   Date:  
 
 
ATTEST: 

 

City Clerk 

 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Stephen G. Quinn 
City Attorney  



 
 

  
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 7, 2020 
 

 SUBJECT: Conditional use permit for property located at 3729 Church Street 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        
PURPOSE: To consider a conditional use request from the Proskueno Ministries,  Incorporated for the 
property to be used as office space, community meetings, and trainings for Christian multicultural 
worship. 

 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
A conditional use permit application request shall be heard at public hearings to be determined 
whether or not the applicants proposed conditional use would generally be in the public interest. In 
considering whether a proposed conditional use is in the public interest, the mayor and city council 
shall consider the following, among other relevant factors: (1) Whether the conditional use would be 
injurious to the use and enjoyment of the environment or of other property in the immediate vicinity 
or diminish and impair property values within the surrounding neighborhood; (2) Whether the 
proposed conditional use would increase local or state expenditures in relation to cost of servicing or 
maintaining neighboring properties; (3) Whether the establishment of the conditional use would 
impede the normal and orderly development of surrounding property for uses predominant in the 
area; and  (4) Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional use would be 
consistent with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general.  

RECOMMENDATION(S):  
STAFF:  
Staff recommended approving the conditional use permit request to allow for office space, community 
meetings, and trainings for Christian multicultural worship, with the condition to adhere to Sections 1107 
Minimum off-street parking requirements, 12-28 Noise, and 10-20 Noise Violations, of the City of 
Clarkston’s Code of Ordinances. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATION(S): 12/17/2019 
The Planning and Zoning Board recommended approving Staff’s recommendations. 
 

ITEM NO: H1 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
 City Council 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENTS: YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy-Sapp,  
Planning and Development Director 

     





























































CUP-19-02 
 

 
 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ANALYSIS 
  

Report Prepared by: Shawanna N. Qawiy-Sapp, Planning & Development Director 
 
Applicant:  Proskueno Ministries, Incorporated  
  P O Box 1237  
  Clarkston, Georgia 30021 
   770.842.2610 
  jd@proskueno.org 
         
Location:  3729 Church Street, Clarkston, GA 30021 
 
Request:  Conditional Use Permit 
 
Parcel ID(s):   18 066 04 002 
 
Proposed Use 
/Purpose:  For office space, community meetings, and trainings for Christian 

multicultural worship 
 
Current Land Use:  RC- Residential Commerical 
 
Sign Posted:  November 21, 2019 
 
Planning & Zoning Meeting: December 17, 2019 
City Council Work Session:  - 
City Council Meeting:  January 7, 2020 
 
Lot Size:      .464 acre   
 
Road Access:   Church Street / Rowland Street 
 
Adjacent Land Use/Zoning District:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Conditional Use Criteria; Section 312 
Criteria Point 1: Whether the conditional use would be injurious to the use and enjoyment of 
the environment or of other property in the immediate vicinity or diminish and impair property 
values within the surrounding neighborhood;  
Section 705-RC residential commercial is intended to allow converted residential structures with 
commercial uses to coexist with residential uses.    One (1) of the requested permitted uses in this 
zoning district is professional offices, which is allowed without a conditional use request. However, 
there are also requests for space for community meetings and Christian multicultural worship 

 Current Zoning  
Land Use 

North - CSX 
East RC Commercial Building 

South NR-1  Single Family Residential 
West NC-2 Car Wash 

mailto:jd@proskueno.org


City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
Proskueno Ministries, Incorporated  
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 17, 2019 
City Council Meeting: January 7, 2020                                                                                                      Page 2 

PROSKUENO  CUP-19-02 

trainings.  According to Section 705(c) conditional uses; the applicant is required to apply for a 
conditional use permit for places of assembly including religious institutions.  Considering the 
proposed conditional use permit request, the surrounding land uses are a car wash, single family 
residential, a vacant commercial building, and the CSX Railroad. With the minimum parking 
requirements combined based on the uses, this location is required to provide 13 parking spaces for 
the proposed uses. Based on satisfying the requirements of the zoning district and having office hours 
proposed from 9AM-5PM Monday-Saturday, the proposed conditional uses would not be injurious 
to the use and enjoyment of the surrounding land uses and will not harm the public’s health, safety 
and welfare of the residents within the vicinity of the proposed conditional uses.  
 
Criteria Point 2: Whether the proposed conditional use would increase local or state 
expenditures in relation to cost of servicing or maintaining neighboring properties. 
Staff’s position is that an increase in local or state expenditures in relation to costs associated with 
servicing and maintaining neighboring properties cannot be determined at this time. 
 
Criteria Point 3: Whether the establishment of the conditional use permit would impede the 
normal and orderly development of surrounding property uses predominant in the area. 
The establishment of the conditional use permit would not impede the orderly development of 
surrounding property uses predominant in the area.  The current zoning for this location is RC- 
Residential Commercial. The Clarkston 2040 Comprehensive Plan notes the land use as mixed use 
which is a mixture of diverse uses including multi-family housing, commercial, office, and urban 
compatible industrial uses, which matches the blend of uses and character of this area.  
 
Criteria Point 4: Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional use would be 
consistent with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general.  
The proposed conditional use location is a converted residential structure.   The location and character 
of the proposed conditional use would be consistent with a desirable pattern of development for the 
locality in general due to the desires to have both vertical and horizontal mixes of uses to match the 
historic character of the City.   
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends approving the conditional use permit request to allow for office space, community 
meetings, and trainings for Christian multicultural worship, with the condition to adhere to Sections 
1107 Minimum off-street parking requirements, 12-28 Noise, and 10-20 Noise Violations, of the City 
of Clarkston’s Code of Ordinances 
 
Attachments: 

• Conditional Use Permit Application  
• Letter of Intent 
• Warranty Deed 
• Maps  
• Site Plan  



 
 

  
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 7, 2020 
 SUBJECT: Conditional use permit for property located at Parc 1000 Apartments; 1000 Montreal 
Road, Apartment 37A 
 

 
 

 
 
 

        
PURPOSE:  To consider a conditional use request from the Center for Pan Asian Community Services 
(CPACS) to locate an afterschool program, summer programs and parental support in an apartment 
unit at the Parc 1000 Apartments. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
A conditional use permit application request shall be heard at public hearings to be determined 
whether or not the applicants proposed conditional use would generally be in the public interest. In 
considering whether a proposed conditional use is in the public interest, the mayor and city council 
shall consider the following, among other relevant factors: (1) Whether the conditional use would 
be injurious to the use and enjoyment of the environment or of other property in the immediate 
vicinity or diminish and impair property values within the surrounding neighborhood; (2) Whether 
the proposed conditional use would increase local or state expenditures in relation to cost of 
servicing or maintaining neighboring properties; (3) Whether the establishment of the conditional 
use would impede the normal and orderly development of surrounding property for uses 
predominant in the area; and  (4) Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional 
use would be consistent with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general.  

RECOMMENDATION(S):  
STAFF:  
Staff recommended conditionally approving the conditional use permit request for an afterschool 
program, summer programs, and parental support with the following conditions; 
1. The applicant must make application for a City business license/permit and show documentation 

that the organization is a bona fide non-profit 501 (c) (3) with hours of operation. 
2. The applicant shall not charge a fee nor accept compensation for such services. 
3. The applicant must have a life safety inspection conducted by the DeKalb County Fire Marshal’s 

office before a certificate of occupancy is issued.  
4. The applicant must comply with all applicable State childcare services and exemption requirements 

for all programs offered annually. 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATION(S): 12/17/2019 
The Planning and Zoning Board recommended approving Staff’s conditional approval with the 
conditions.  

ITEM NO: H2 

ACTION TYPE: HEARING TYPE:  
 City Council 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENTS: YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy-Sapp,  
Planning and Development Director 

     



























































CUP-19-03 
 

 
 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ANALYSIS 
  

Report Prepared by: Shawanna N. Qawiy-Sapp, Planning & Development Director 
 
Applicant:  Chaiwon Kim, D/B/A Center for Pan Asian Community Services (CPACS) 
  3510 Shallowford Road, NE 
  Atlanta, Georgia  30341 
   770.936.0969 
  yotin@cpacs.org 
         
Location:   PARC 1000 Apartments 

1000 Montreal Road, Apt. 37A 
  Clarkston, Georgia 30021 
 
Request:  Conditional Use Permit 
 
Parcel ID(s):   18 118 01 009 
 
Proposed Use 
/Purpose:  An afterschool program, summer programs, and parental support 
 
Current Land Use:  NR-CD Neighborhood Residential-Community Development  
 
Sign Posted:  November 21, 2019 
 
Planning & Zoning Meeting: December 17, 2019 
City Council Work Session:  - 
City Council Meeting:  January 7, 2019 
 
Lot Size:    
 
Road Access:   Montreal Road  
 
Adjacent Land Use/Zoning District:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Conditional Use Criteria; Section 312 
Criteria Point 1: Whether the conditional use would be injurious to the use and enjoyment of 
the environment or of other property in the immediate vicinity or diminish and impair property 
values within the surrounding neighborhood;  

 Current 
Zoning 

 
Land Use 

North NR-CD Multifamily Apartments 
East NR-CD Multifamily Plantation 

Condominiums 
South NR-1  

NR-3 
Single Family Residential 
City of Clarkston owned 

property 
West I-285 - 

mailto:yotin@cpacs.org


City of Clarkston Planning & Development             
CPACS  
P&Z Committee Meeting: December 17, 2019 
City Council Meeting: January 7, 2020                                                                                                        Page 2 

CPAC- 19-03 

Section 704 –NR-CD-Neighborhood Residential Community Development district is intended for 
multifamily housing developments with a mixture of housing types single family attached and 
detached, as well as some limited institutional and personal service uses that would be convenient to 
nearby residents.  With the proposed conditional uses, there are minimum parking requirement for 
each use, as outlined in Section 1107: Minimum off-street parking requirements; For Place of 
assembly 1 space per 3 seats or 1 space per 50 sq. ft. where fixed seats are not provided.  There 
would not be a significant increase in traffic due to the services being provided are mostly to the 
students currently residing in the multifamily apartment complex.            
 
The proposed conditional uses would not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of the surrounding 
land uses that could harm the public’s health, safety and welfare of the residents within the vicinity 
of the proposed conditional uses.  
 
Criteria Point 2: Whether the proposed conditional use would increase local or state 
expenditures in relation to cost of servicing or maintaining neighboring properties. 
Staff’s position is that an increase in local or state expenditures in relation to costs associated with 
servicing and maintaining neighboring properties cannot be determined at this time. 
 
Criteria Point 3: Whether the establishment of the conditional use permit would impede the 
normal and orderly development of surrounding property uses predominant in the area. 
The current zoning for this location is NR-CD-Neighborhood Residential Community Development. 
The Clarkston 2040 Comprehensive Plan notes the proposed conditional use land use as a traditional 
neighborhood district which is designated to nurture traditional neighborhood development patterns 
and housing types. 
 
Criteria Point 4: Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional use would be 
consistent with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general.  
The proposed conditional use location is a multifamily residential apartment unit.   The location and 
character of the proposed conditional use would be consistent with the desirable pattern of 
development because it matches the character of the area, by providing limited institutional services.   
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends conditionally approving the conditional use permit request for an afterschool 
program, summer programs, and parental support with the following conditions; 

1. The applicant must make application for a City business license/permit and show 
documentation that the organization is a bona fide non-profit 501 (c) (3) with hours of operation. 

2. The applicant shall not charge a fee nor accept compensation for such services. 
3. The applicant must have a life safety inspection conducted by the DeKalb County Fire 

Marshal’s office before a certificate of occupancy is issued.  
4. The applicant must comply with all applicable State childcare services and exemption 

requirements for all programs offered annually. 
 
Attachments: 

• Conditional Use Permit Application  
• Letter of Intent 
• Warranty Deed 
• Maps  
• Site Plan  



Text Amendment  
Apartment Units- Non-profits- for Childcare/Tutoring NR-3, NR-CD, RC, NC-1, NC-2, TC   2019 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA/ MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: January 7, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: To amend the Clarkston Zoning Ordinance to allow apartments units to be used by non-
profit corporations for childcare and/or tutoring as a primary use in the NR-3, NR-CD,RC,NC-1, NC-2 
and TC Districts. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
PURPOSE:   
To solicit input on a proposed text amendment to amend the Clarkston Zoning Ordinance to allow 
apartments units to be used by non-profit corporations for childcare and/or tutoring as a primary 
use in the NR-3, NR-CD,RC,NC-1, NC-2 and TC Districts. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:  
The goal of the text amendments is to allow apartments units to be used by non-profit corporations 
for childcare and/or tutoring as a primary use in the NR-3, NR-CD, RC, NC-1, NC-2 and TC Districts. 

 
The NR-3-High Density neighborhood residential district is intended for single family and multifamily 
residences at a greater density on smaller lots in order to provide for a variety of housing types, 
including townhomes, cluster homes and condominiums. This district may also serve as a transitional 
zone between light commercial/office uses and districts reserved for lower density single family uses. 
 
The NR-CD-Neighborhood residential community development district  is primarily intended for 
multifamily housing developments that allows a mix of housing types, including single-family attached 
and detached structures, as well as some limited institutional and personal service uses that would 
be convenient to nearby residents. 
 
The RC Residential/Commercial district is intended to allow converted residential structures with 
commercial uses to co-exist with residential uses. Commercial uses will be limited in order to maintain 
the current balance and aesthetics in the surrounding areas.  Residences converted to office uses 
acceptable when kept at current scale. 
 
The NC-1-Low Density Neighborhood Commercial district is intended to provide suitable areas for 
limited retail and personal services serving residents in the immediate vicinity. Uses within this district 
supply those goods and services which require frequent purchasing with a minimum of customer 
travel. The scope at which properties are developed within the NC-1 district should reflect their 

ITEM NO: H3 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
 City Council 

DEPARTMENT: 
Planning and Development/City Council 

ATTACHMENT: YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Councilman Jaime Carroll 
P & D Director Shawanna Qawiy 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



Text Amendment  
Apartment Units- Non-profits- for Childcare/Tutoring NR-3, NR-CD, RC, NC-1, NC-2, TC   2019 
 

relatively small market areas.  This zoning district may serve as a step down from more intense 
commercial uses to residential uses.  
 
The NC-2 Moderate Density neighborhood Commercial zoning district is intended to provide suitable 
areas for the provision of retail and personal services oriented towards those neighborhoods making 
up the adjacent community and designed to encourage the formation of compatible and economically 
healthy business and service uses which benefit from close proximity to each other.  
 
The TC Town Center zoning district promotes development of a compact, pedestrian-oriented, 
consisting of a high-intensity employment center, vibrant and dynamic mixed-use areas.  The district 
is to promote a diverse mix of residential, business, commercial, office, institutional, cultural and 
entertainment activities for workers, visitors, and residents;   encourage bicycle and pedestrian-
oriented development at densities and intensities that will help to support transit usage and town 
center businesses;   promote the health and well-being of residents by encouraging physical activity, 
alternative transportation, and greater social interaction;  create a place that represents a unique, 
attractive, and memorable destination for visitors and residents; and enhance the community's 
character through the promotion of high-quality urban design. 
 

   
RECOMMENDATION(S):  
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT STAFF: 
Staff recommends; 
1. Establishing a maximum number of units in an apartment complex to allow non-profits to operate 

in apartment without an in-house resident.  
2. The City should establish general guidelines for permitting non-profits to operate in apartment 

units without a resident;  
a. Insurance requirements ( Applicant) 
b. Certificate of Occupancy (Local) 
c. Annual inspections ( Applicant/State requirements) 
d. Certifications/Permits(State requirements) 

 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD: December 17, 2019  
The Planning and Zoning Board recommended approving the recommendations of the Staff with the 
additional condition (e) One (1) apartment unit allowed for the use of an afterschool/tutoring 
program per 100 units residentially occupied in an apartment complex.   
 

      





CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: JAN 7, 2020 
 

SUBJECT:  Adopt Resolution Requesting the GA General Assembly to Annex Certain Property into Clarkston. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   The City of Clarkston annexed three areas that enlarged the City’s corporate limits back in 2014 and 
2015.  In March 2019, the City Council held a public meeting to further discuss and obtain public input on future 
annexation.  The City desires to continue the process of annexing certain property identified in Areas 3-10 on the 
attached map, Exhibit A, and the written boundary lines description of the areas, Exhibit B.  To proceed, it is to the 
City’s best interest to adopt a resolution so stating the City’s proposed annexation desires and forward the adopted 
resolution to the DeKalb County Legislative Delegation to introduce local annexation legislation in the Georgia 
General Assembly.  The City has contracted with a firm, LD Square, to assist and lobby for the City’s annexation 
efforts.   
 
NEED/IMPACT:  Adopt resolution demonstrating the City of Clarkston’s desire to annex various areas beneficial to 
the property owners, residents, and businesses into the corporate limits of the City of Clarkston.  Those areas upon 
annexation would begin to receive City services including police, public works, planning & development, code 
compliance/enforcement, etc.    
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt referenced resolution.   
 
 
 
   

ITEM NO:  H4 

ACTION TYPE: 
ADOPT RESOLUTION 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES     NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES    NO  

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   









CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: JAN 7, 2020 
 

SUBJECT:  Adopt 2ND Amendment to Waste Management Residential Trash Collection Service Agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   The City of Clarkston negotiated with Waste Management an extension, a 2nd amendment, of the 
original July 26, 2011, Waste & Recycling Collection/Hauling 3 Year Service agreement (1st amendment adopted on 
April 1, 2014, extended the 2011 agreement for a five year term from Jan 1, 2015 to Dec 31, 2019).  Waste 
Management and the City of Clarkston have agreed to the following proposed agreement: 
 
1. A three (3) year agreement from Jan 1, 2020 to Dec 31, 2022.   
2. Continues weekly curbside residential units and curbside small commercial entities trash/waste collection.  
3. Eliminates all curbside recycling.   
4. The annual curbside trash/waste collection rate effective Jan 1, 2010, will be $10.39 (down from $15.39) per 

residence, plus a 3.3% Consumer Price Index (CPI) adjustment, bringing the total monthly cost to $10.73 or 
$128.79 for the 2020 year.   

5. An annual CPI adjustment each January 1 
6. Either party may terminate the agreement for any or no reason by providing written notice to the other party at 

least sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of termination. 
7. City and Waste Management will work cooperatively to provide for a remote recycling location with containers 

for all to deposit recycling materials such as plastic, aluminum, and cardboard 
 
It is the City’s intent to issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) for curbside trash/recycling services during the 2020 year 
to ensure highest and best quality services and rates.  
 
Enclosed with this agenda item is a Wall Street Journal article dated Dec 19, 2019, detailing various changes with 
world-wide recycling markets that have caused significant changes to recycling processes and habits specifically 
throughout the US, up to and including elimination of curbside recycling services in many US cities and towns due to 
the high cost and reduced prior foreign demand of recycling materials.  Waste Management advised the City that 
the reason for a proposed $3/month rate increase would be primarily for the disposal cost of recycling materials 
that have a very high percentage of contamination (therefore, cannot be recycled).  Consequently, we are searching 
for reasonable recycling alternatives.   
 
NEED/ IMPACT:  City must provide trash/waste collection services to enhance the public, health, and welfare of its 
residential and small commercial residents, businesses, and visitors.    
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Council adopt referenced agreement.   
 

ITEM NO:  H5 

ACTION TYPE: 
ADOPT AGREEMENT 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES     NO 
Pages: 11 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES    NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ,  
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   









12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 1/8

This copy is for your personal, non-commercial use only. To order presentation-ready copies for distribution to your colleagues, clients or customers visit
https://www.djreprints.com.

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536

YOU HAVE BEEN SELECTED

WSJ wants to hear from you. Take part in this short survey to help shape The Journal. Take Survey

Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash
Now That China Won’t Take It
The trash industry and governments are investing in domestic processing, ramping up alternative
strategies such as incineration and rolling out education campaigns. Some are dropping programs
altogether.

For decades, America and much of the developed world threw their used plastic bottles, soda
cans and junk mail in one bin. The trash industry then shipped much of that thousands of miles
to China, the world’s biggest consumer of scrap material, to be sorted and turned into new
products.

That changed last year when China banned imports of mixed paper and plastic and heavily
restricted other scrap. Beijing said it wants to stimulate domestic garbage collection and end
the flow of foreign trash it sees as an environmental and health hazard. Since then, India,
Malaysia, Vietnam, Thailand and Indonesia—other popular markets for the West’s trash—have
implemented their own restrictions.

The moves have caused a seismic shift in how the world deals with its waste. Long used to
shipping off trash to poorer countries to sort and process, nations are now faced with the
question of what recycling is worth to them. They are undertaking new investments in
domestic processing, ramping up alternative strategies such as incineration and rolling out
education campaigns to teach homeowners to sort trash. Others are dropping programs
altogether.

Recycling is “something that’s ingrained in you, and one day it suddenly all goes away,” said
Kyle O’Brien, the town manager of Broadway, Va. The town had offered curbside recycling for
two decades but canceled the service last year after Beijing started turning away the world’s
recyclables. The company that processed the materials, van der Linde Recycling, closed its
household waste processing facility, blaming the severe drop in prices.

Dec. 19, 2019 12�28 pm ET

By Saabira Chaudhuri

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

https://dowjonessurveys.co1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_2f5DcTMlIDwflOd?source=banner&audience=prospect
https://www.wsj.com/articles/we-are-swamped-how-a-global-trash-glut-hurt-a-25-billion-industry-11564343534?mod=article_inline
https://www.wsj.com/articles/states-look-for-new-ways-to-recycle-your-plastic-and-paper-11567935001?mod=article_inline
https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-once-embraced-by-businesses-and-environmentalists-now-under-siege-1526209200?mod=article_inline
https://www.wsj.com/articles/companies-dust-off-old-technology-in-search-of-high-quality-recycled-plastic-11575801000?mod=article_inline


12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 2/8

For years, the world’s bottles and boxes made their way to China on ships that offered deep
discounts to avoid returning empty after dropping off cargo in the U.S. and other countries.

Since 1992, China has imported 45% of the world’s plastic waste, according to data published
last year in the journal Science Advances.

“It was a great relationship, where we bought their goods and sent them back the empty boxes,”
says Brent Bell, vice president of recycling for Houston-based Waste Management, the largest
waste management company in the U.S.

Last year, China instituted a ban on 24 categories of waste—including, for example, plastic
clamshell containers, soda and shampoo bottles, and junk mail. It said foreign garbage was
“provoking a public outcry.”

As of October, U.S. scrap exports of plastic to mainland China were down 89% since early 2017,
when China began to make clear it would ban many categories, while mixed paper exports were
down 96%, according to the Institute of Scrap Recycling Industries.

Total U.S.
plastic scrap
exports to all
countries were
down 64% in
that time
period, while
mixed paper
exports were
down 42%
according to
ISRI.

Cities and
towns have been scrambling to find new buyers for their waste ever since. One big problem is
that many locations outside cities such as New York are used to putting recycling in a single bin.
Different materials must be painstakingly separated before they can be processed. Much paper
is too damp and plastic too soiled with food or grease to be recycled at all.

China accepted dirty and mixed recyclables because it had low-wage workers to sort out
unwanted material, often by hand. That gave American contractors little incentive to weed out
food scraps, plastic bags and nonrecyclable junk stateside.

Processing aluminum at the plant in Flagsta�. PHOTO: DAWN KISH FOR THE WALL STREET JOURNAL

rgomez
Highlight

https://www.wsj.com/articles/bottled-water-americas-most-popular-drink-has-a-plastic-problem-11544627923?mod=article_inline
https://quotes.wsj.com/WM
https://www.wsj.com/articles/big-brands-struggle-to-quit-plastic-11574769600?mod=article_inline
https://www.wsj.com/articles/help-were-drowning-in-recycling-cue-the-internet-of-trash-11551502870?mod=article_inline


12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 3/8

After China rejected imports, a flood of trash was rerouted to countries such as India, Indonesia
and Malaysia. Many of those places now say they are overwhelmed and have imposed their own
restrictions on paper or plastic imports. The countries also want to focus on developing their
own waste collection industries.

Malaysia in May began sending back 60 containers of imported trash to the U.S. and other
countries, complaining it had become a dumping ground for rich countries. The containers
were meant to contain plastic scrap but were contaminated with other items such as cables and
electronic waste. A government spokeswoman said more containers will be returned as
Malaysia ramps up inspections.

Japan, which historically sent most of its plastic exports to China, had been redirecting trash to
Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam after China’s ban. But when those countries began turning
dirty recycling away, Japanese collectors started stockpiling, in hopes a new market would
arise. Over the past year, Japan has amassed 500,000 tons of plastic waste, according to Hiroaki
Kaneko, deputy director of recycling at the environment ministry.

Japan, the second-biggest exporter of plastic waste behind the U.S., is trying to stimulate
domestic processing by earmarking billions of yen to subsidize plastic recycling machinery for
private companies.

Daiei Kankyo Holdings, a recycling company based in Kobe, recently applied for the government
subsidies, which are estimated to cover up to half the cost of recycling equipment for a new
plant slated to open next year in Osaka. The opening of the plant, where plastic waste will be
recycled into cases for transportation of food and other items, has been pushed forward by a
couple of years due to China’s ban, said Kunihiko Idei, manager of the business strategy division

A trash container at the port in Selangor, Malaysia, where of�icials said they would reject imports of scrap contaminated with
nonrecyclables. PHOTO: SAMSUL SAID�BLOOMBERG NEWS

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight



12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 4/8

of the company. The plant will double the company’s current capacity to around 30,000 tons a
year.

Asei Co., a
Japanese plastic
waste exporter,
moved the
production of
plastic pellets,
which are
created during
the recycling
process and
used to produce
new products,
home from its
factory in

Shanghai. It spent 500 million yen, or close to $5 million, on two new facilities northeast of
Tokyo.

The U.K. is burning more of its trash, including dirty or low-value recycling. Attitudes toward
incineration vary greatly by country. In the U.S., where space is plentiful, it has long been
cheaper to send materials to landfills, and incineration has remained unpopular. Across much
of Europe, by contrast, trash burned for energy has been popular for years.

Incineration and recycling rates in England are now on par at roughly 42%, according to
government data. Waste collected by local authorities sent for incineration climbed to 10.8

million metric tons last year from 10.2 million tons a year earlier, while recycling dropped to
10.9 million tons from 11.3 million tons.

“We are fast moving into a crisis where we don’t have market capacity for the materials
collected, and already prices have plummeted,” said Simon Ellin, CEO of the Recycling
Association, a U.K. trade body.

London-based waste contractor Paper Round has begun asking customers to stop putting
plastic film, which isn’t easily recyclable, into recycling bins dotted around the office buildings,
hotels and restaurants it collects from, because buyers don’t want it.

It is holding breakfast seminars for office workers and sending educational emails to staff at the
buildings it serves explaining what can and can’t be recycled. It has also warned customers that
unless prices for cardboard rise it will start charging for some collections.

Plastic bottles collected at Tokyo Petbottle Recycle Co. PHOTO: KOJI SASAHARA�ASSOCIATED PRESS

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight



12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 5/8

“The China ban has highlighted
that we can no longer export our
problem,” said managing
director Bill Swan. Paper
Round’s buyers have much
higher standards now, he said,
such as checking moisture levels,
which can decrease the quality of
paper.

In Memphis, Tenn., Republic
Services Inc., one of America’s
largest waste haulers, last year
stopped accepting mixed
recycling put in a single bin from

some businesses, saying it was too contaminated.

“When you’re in a buyer’s market—and we are certainly in a buyers market—you can demand
higher quality,” said Pete Keller, head of recycling at Phoenix-based Republic.

The move in Memphis prompted the city’s airport to send all its bottles, cans and paper to
landfills. For months it left in place recycling bins in case the service returned but recently gave
up and removed them.

To improve the quality of what it does still collect, Republic has hired more staff to sort
materials and acquired new optical scanners to distinguish between metals, colored paper and
different types of plastic. It opened a new facility in Texas earlier this year that uses a variety of
technologies to sort material in milliseconds.

Other waste collectors have also made investments, which have driven up costs for customers.
Philadelphia is paying $92 a ton for its recyclables to be collected, up from $44 a ton before the
China ban. Higher costs initially prompted the city to start burning half its recyclables before
backtracking after public criticism.

The city is now spending $500,000 on an advertising campaign it hopes will reduce
contamination rates—down to 10% from the current 25%—to secure it a discount on collection
costs. “Often the material people put in bins, they don’t know whether it’s recyclable,” said
Department of Streets Commissioner Carlton Williams, who counts bowling balls, garden hoses
and old toys among examples of contaminants he has seen.

A land�ill in Flagsta�. PHOTO: DAWN KISH FOR THE WALL STREET JOURNAL

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight

https://quotes.wsj.com/RSG


12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 6/8

This summer,
Philadelphia
put ads on bus
shelters and
the radio
telling people
to “take a
minute before
you bin it” and
“if in doubt
throw it out.”
The campaign
asks residents
to stop putting

plastic bags in recycling bins and to rinse food containers. It has also sent staff door-to-door to
tell residents what should go in the recycling bin, and has put lids on bins to protect paper from
the rain.

The waste contractor in Flagstaff, Ariz., stopped taking five types of plastic, including yogurt
tubs and clamshell food containers, because it couldn’t sell those types on to processors. Much
of that material now goes to landfills.

The city is running appeals on its social-media pages to encourage its roughly 70,000 residents
to put only bottles, jugs and jars in recycling bins to comply with the change. “Do you
experience confusion when recycling plastic?” asks a video, styled like a commercial for
prescription drugs. “If you live in Flagstaff, talk to your doctor about recycling plastic by
shape.”

“People love recycling—it’s a very tangible way of living your environmental values—but I don’t
think people realize the impact of putting the wrong things in the bin,” said Dylan Lenzen, who
works on waste prevention for Flagstaff.

This year, Flagstaff announced workers would begin inspecting residents’ recycling bins,
putting “Oops” tags on ones containing materials that shouldn’t be there and refusing to pick
them up. A pilot it ran last year showed tags had slashed the number of nonrecyclable items in
recycling bins by 40%.

For Elisha Dorfsmith the measure went too far. “It almost feels like public shaming,” said the
42-year-old, who sells used items online for a living. He stopped recycling for months to avoid
being humiliated in front of the neighbors and restarted only recently when “it sounded like the
recycling police had stopped going around.”

Republic Services’ facility in Plano, Texas. PHOTO: JUSTIN CLEMONS FOR THE WALL STREET JOURNAL

rgomez
Highlight



12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 7/8

Longtime Flagstaff resident
Susan Bassett has been
washing empty yogurt tubs and
feta cheese containers and
storing them under her bed.
The 75-year-old Ms. Bassett
pays $25 a box to mail her extra
plastics to Cortland, N.Y., where
a company turns them into
toothbrushes.

For some towns, the finances
don’t work. Waste collectors in
Deltona, Fla., got just $5 a ton
for mixed paper last year,
compared with $120 a ton in
2017, while processing costs
stayed flat at $80 a ton. “With
the current state of the
recycling market, there is little
if any market for the processed
collected recyclable materials,”
City Manager Jane Shang said
in January. The next month,
Deltona suspended its recycling
program.

Kristie Ramirez didn’t believe
her 12-year-old daughter when
she came home from school one
afternoon and said Deltona was
sending their recycling to a

lan
dfil
l—
res
ide
nts
we

re still filling and setting out recycling containers, but collectors were dumping it all into the
regular trash. The 35-year-old, who called her waste company to check, still puts out her blue

Philadelphia launched an ad campaign to educate residents about sorting recycling.

SHARE YOUR THOUGHTS

How much e�ort or expense are you willing to put into recycling? Join the discussion below.

rgomez
Highlight

rgomez
Highlight



12/23/2019 Recycling Rethink: What to Do With Trash Now That China Won’t Take It - WSJ

https://www.wsj.com/articles/recycling-rethink-what-to-do-with-trash-now-china-wont-take-it-11576776536 8/8

Copyright © 2019 Dow Jones & Company, Inc. All Rights Reserved

This copy is for your personal, non-commercial use only. To order presentation-ready copies for distribution to your colleagues, clients or customers visit
https://www.djreprints.com.

recycling bin on collection days, saying she doesn’t know what else to do. “I have always
practiced recycling as long as there’s a recycling bin that comes with my trash bin,” she says.

—Miho Inada contributed to this article.

Write to Saabira Chaudhuri at saabira.chaudhuri@wsj.com

Susan Bassett saves plastics to send to a facility that will recycle them in Cortland, N.Y. PHOTO: DAWN KISH FOR THE WALL
STREET JOURNAL

mailto:saabira.chaudhuri@wsj.com

	H. NEW BUSINESS
	Draft Minutes Council Meeting 12-3-2019.pdf
	H. NEW BUSINESS

	Proskueno CUP December  2019 Analysis.pdf
	Applicant:  Proskueno Ministries, Incorporated
	P O Box 1237
	Clarkston, Georgia 30021
	jd@proskueno.org

	CPACS CUP December  2019 Analysis.pdf
	Applicant:  Chaiwon Kim, D/B/A Center for Pan Asian Community Services (CPACS)
	3510 Shallowford Road, NE
	Atlanta, Georgia  30341
	yotin@cpacs.org
	Clarkston, Georgia 30021

	SUMMARY SHEET - ANNEXATION RESOLUTION.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Adopt Resolution Requesting the GA General Assembly to Annex Certain Property into Clarkston.

	SUMMARY SHEET - 2nd AMEND WASTE MGT TRASH AGREEMENT.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Adopt 2ND Amendment to Waste Management Residential Trash Collection Service Agreement.




